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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MEKHI JOHNSON and AMBER GARRITY, ;
Plaintiffs - Civil Action No.: 4:25-CV-1422

V.

WILLIAMSPORT BUREAU OF POLICE, : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
AGENT BENJAMIN HITESMAN, in his :

individual capacity and under color of law,

JUVENILE PROBATION OFFICER NATHAN

HILL, in his individual capacity and under color of :

law, CITY OF WILLIAMSPORT, LYCOMING

COUNTY JUVENILE PROBATION OFFICE,

COUNTY OF LYCOMING,
Defendants
COMPLAINT
L. INTRODUCTION
1. This is a civil rights action seeking compensatory and punitive damages

against Defendants for violations of Plaintiffs' constitutional rights pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 1983, including false arrest, malicious prosecution, false imprisonment, and

deprivation of liberty without due process.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, as
this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the United States.

3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as the
events giving rise to the claims occurred in Williamsport, Pennsylvania.

4. Plaintiff invokes this Court’s supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.

§1367 to hear and decide claims made under state law as the state law claims are so
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related to the federal claims so as to form a part of the same case of controversy
under Article 3 of the United States Constitution.
IT1. PARTIES

5. Plaintiff, Mekhi Johnson, is an adult individual, who at the time the
incident arose, was a minor and was residing at 822 Funston Avenue, Williamsport,
Lycoming County, Pennsylvania.

6. Plaintiff, Amber Garrity, is the mother and natural guardian of Plaintiff,
Mekhi Johnson, and is a resident of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania residing at
822 Funston Avenue, Williamsport, Lycoming County, Pennsylvania.

7. Defendant, Williamsport Bureau of Police, is a law enforcement agency
operating under authority of Defendant, City of Williamsport, with a principal place
of business at 810 Nichols Place, Williamsport, Lycoming County, Pennsylvania.

8. Defendant, Benjamin Hitesman, is a police officer employed by the
Defendant, Williamsport Bureau of Police and at all times relevant hereto, was
acting under the color of state law. Defendant is being sued in his individual capacity
and acting as an agent on behalf of the Defendant, Williamsport Bureau of Police.

0. Defendant, Nathan Hill, is a juvenile probation officer employed by
Defendant, Lycoming County and at all times relevant hereto, was acting under the
color of state law. Defendant is being sued in his individual capacity, and was acting

as an agent on behalf of Lycoming County.
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10. Defendant, City of Williamsport, is a municipality of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is responsible for the policies, procedures, and
training of the Williamsport Bureau of Police employees.

11. Defendant, Lycoming County Juvenile Probation is an entity
responsible for the supervision of juvenile probationers in Lycoming County and is,
at all times relevant hereto, is acting on behalf of the Defendant, County of
Lycoming.

12. Defendant, County of Lycoming, is a municipal entity responsible for
the actions of its employees, including those within the Lycoming County Juvenile
Probation Office.

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

13.  On July 22, 2024, at approximately 19:45 hours, Officers with the
Williamsport Bureau of Police responded to a report of shots fired near 2119 King

Street in Williamsport, Lycoming County, Pennsylvania.

14.  Upon arrival, a single .380 casing was located lying in Good Alley just
behind the Diamond Street Christian Church.

15.  Through their investigation, police obtained surveillance video footage
from four (4) nearby locations: the southern side of the Diamond Street Church; the
southern side of Sanders Mortuary; the front porch of a private residence on Diamond
Street; and a garage camera from a private residence on Good Alley facing south toward

the shooting location.
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16.  The Sanders Mortuary video shows two individuals wearing jeans and
hooded sweatshirts—one dark and one light—exiting Newberry Park Playground
walking east toward the Diamond Street Church.

17.  These individuals have the hoods pulled over their heads and are wearing
masks concealing their faces.

18.  The Diamond Street Church video shows a separate individual walk east
through the church parking lot, and then several minutes later, the two individuals seen
exiting the park enter the church parking lot also headed east.

19.  The video from the private residence on Diamond Street shows the same
two individuals walking through the church parking lot toward Good Alley located at
the rear of the Church, and then a single gunshot is heard.

20. Following the gunshot, the Diamond Street residence and Sanders
Mortuary videos depict the single individual referenced in paragraph 18 supra, run west
from the Church parking lot, across Diamond Street, and into Newberry Park.

21.  Following the gun shot, the Good Alley Video depicts the two masked
individuals in the hooded sweatshirts fleeing North toward West Fourth Street and the
camera location.

22.  Inthe Good Alley video, the two individuals are viewed for approximately
four (4) seconds, and the individual wearing the cream-colored sweatshirt is observed
running with what appears to be an object concealed within the front pocket of the

sweatshirt.
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23, Notably, because of the hood and mask, only a small portion of the
individual’s face between the bridge of the nose and their hairline is visible, and only
small pieces of hair are observable.

24.  Investigating this incident, and based upon a review of the Good Alley
footage, Williamsport Police Agent Benjamin Hitesman identifies the individual in the
cream-colored sweatshirt as Plaintiff, Mekhi A. Johnson.

25.  Based upon his identification solely from the Good Alley video, Agent
Hitesman authored and obtained a sealed search warrant for Plaintiffs” residence.

26, The following day, July 23, 2024, Agent Hitesman and officers from the
Williamsport Bureau of Police, along with Lycoming County Juvenile Probation Officer
Nathan Hill, executed the search of Plaintiffs” home.

27.  Law enforcement had to physically breach the front door to gain entry into
the home, causing structural damage to the property.

28.  Plaintiff was located inside, taken into custody, and transported to
Williamsport Police Headquarters.

29.  During the search, police located a .380 firearm with an altered or
obliterated serial number inside a pillowcase in the residence.

30. Despite an extensive search, police did not locate any of the clothing
depicted in the surveillance footage.

31.  Plaintiff was remanded to the custody of George Junior Republic for pre-

adjudicatory detention.
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32.  On July 25, 2024, a Petition alleging delinquency was filed against the
Plaintiff, Mekhi A. Johnson, for Aggravated Assault, Possession of a Firearm by a Minor,
and Possession of a Firearm with an Obliterated Manufacturer’s Number.

33. OnJuly 26, 2024, a Probable Cause / Detention Hearing was held before the
Honorable Ryan C. Gardner, Lycoming County Common Pleas Judge.

34.  Williamsport Police Agent Christopher Salisbury and Defendant, Juvenile
Probation Officer Nathan Hill, testified during this hearing.

35.  Juvenile Probation Officer Hill testified he was familiar with Plaintiff,
having previously supervised him for approximately 11 months on juvenile probation
for a school fight, and was asked to be present during the search of Plaintiff's residence
because of this relationship.

36.  During Agent Salisbury’s testimony, he identified Plaintiff as the individual
wearing the cream-colored hooded sweatshirt approximately fifteen (15) separate times,
and stated that it appeared an object consistent with being a firearm was being concealed
within the sweatshirts front pocket.

37. Defendant, Juvenile Probation Officer Hill, was present in the Courtroom
during Agent Salisbury’s testimony and was called to testify following Agent Salisbury’s
testimony as well.

38. TFollowing testimony, the Commonwealth’s attorney, First Assistant
District Attorney Martin Wade, argued that continued detention was necessary due in
large part to the nature of the incident and the specific felony offenses lodged against

Plaintiff.
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39. Judge Gardner found probable cause that Plaintiff had committed the
alleged delinquent acts, and direct that Plaintiff should remain detained at George Junior
Republic pending adjudication proceedings.

40. An evidentiary hearing was scheduled for August 5, 2024, but was
continued by defense counsel due to not having received and adequately reviewed all
discovery from the Commonwealth.

41.  Also At the August 5, 2024 hearing, it was once again directed that Plaintiff
remain detained following brief argument by counsel.

42, Defendant, Agent Hitesman, was present during the August 5, 2024,
hearing.

43.  Once discovery was obtained and reviewed, and pursuant to the
undersigned counsel’s own conversations with several of the named witnesses and
victim, both a Notice of Alibi and Motion for Preservation of Testimony were filed and
served.

44. A hearing on the preservation motion was originally scheduled for August
23, 2024.

45.  On August 21, 2024, First Assistant District Attorney Martin Wade
provided several emails to defense counsel depicting text message conversations
between Defendant, Agent Hitesman, and Juvenile Probation Officers, and emails from
juvenile probation officers regarding the investigation into Plaintiff.

46. Specifically, the communications showed that between July 24t and 25%,
immediately following Plaintiff’s July 23 arrest and detention, juvenile probation

7
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officers informed Defendant, Agent Hitesman, that the individual he identified as
Plaintiff was in fact another individual, J.B., who was currently supervised by juvenile
probation.

47. The communications also showed that juvenile probation informed
Defendant, Agent Hitesman, that they performed a home check of ].B.’s residence and
during same they located both the jeans and cream-colored sweatshirt depicted in the
surveillance videos.

48.  First Assistant District Attorney Wade and Matthew A. Diemer, Esquire,
immediately informed Judge Gardner of this information and requested a conference;
said conference was held on the afternoon of August 21,2024,

49.  Following that brief conference, without objection of the parties, Judge
Gardner ordered Juvenile Probation to immediately take custody of Plaintiff and return
him to his mother’s home pending a hearing scheduled for the following morning.

50.  Plaintiff was held at George Junior Republic for approximately twenty-nine
(29) days, and spent his eighteenth (18%) birthday therein.

51. Matthew A. Diemer, Esq. made an oral motion to dismiss this matter with
prejudice which the Court stated it would entertain during the next day’s hearing.

52. A hearing was held on August 22, 2024, before the Honorable Judge Ryan
C. Gardner, during which Defendant, Agent Hitesman, Juvenile Probation Officers
Nathan Hill and Kaitlin Lunger testified.

35 Defendant, Agent Hitesman, testified, in relevant part, as follows:

a. He was part of the investigation into the July 22, 2024, shooting incident;
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53.

f.

He was the law enforcement officer who identified Plaintiff as the individual
in the cream-colored sweatshirt, and said identification was made following
his viewing of the Good Alley surveillance footage;
He identified plaintiff based upon what he believed were visible dreads
coming out of the front of the individual’s hood in the approximately four (4)
second clip;
He authored the affidavit of probable cause and search warrant application
based upon that identification;
That he did not include in his warrant application the following information:
that he was the law enforcement officer who made the identification; the
specific video from which the identification was made; a description of that
video from which the identification was made; what specific characteristics or
articulable facts were the basis supporting the identification; or his
familiarity —or lack thereof —with plaintiff supporting the reliability and basis
of the identification.

Defendant, Agent Hitesman, further testified in relevant part, that:
On July 24, 2024, just one day following the execution of the search warrant
and Plaintiff being taken into custody and remanded to juvenile detention,
juvenile probation officers informed him that the individual he identified as
plaintiff was actually another individual currently supervised by juvenile

probation, and that he should focus his investigation on that person, J.B.;
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g. Additionally, on July 25, 2024, juvenile probation officers informed him that
they conducted a home visit at ].B.’s residence, upon entry J.B. was wearing the
jeans depicted in the surveillance video, and the cream-colored sweatshirt was
located in his bedroom.

54.  Defendant, Agent Hitesman, testified that he “didn’t think anything of it

really” when he received this information from juvenile probation.

55.  Agent Hitesman then stated that he never informed the district attorney or
defense counsel of this information, never completed any narrative or supplemental
report documenting this information and never took any further steps to investigate this
information including directing juvenile probation to secure the clothing, obtain a search
warrant of J.B.’s residence, or take ].B. into custody.

56. When questioned, Defendant, Agent Hitesman, indicated he did not
intentionally fail to act upon this new information.

57.  Defendant, Agent Hitesman, further testified that a search warrant was
finally executed at ].B.s home on August 19, 2024, and the cream-colored sweatshirt was
located and seized.

58. However, despite the results of the search, J.B. was still never taken into
custody.

59.  Defendant, Agent Hitesman, confirmed that defense counsel was never
informed of the search or its findings.

60. Juvenile Probation Officer Kaitlin Lunger testified at the August 22, 2024,

hearing in relevant part as follows:

10
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h. On July 24, 2024, Agent Hitesman texted to her several still photos of the two
individuals from the Sanders Mortuary video asking if she was able to identify
either of the individuals depicted;

i. Agent Hitesman did not provide any indication that he knew the identity of
either of those individuals or that he was seeking confirmation of his
identification thereof;

j. Based on the images provided, she and two other juvenile probation officers —
Defendant Hill and Juvenile Probation Officer Delgado—were able to
positively identify both individuals depicted.

k. None of the three juvenile probation officers believed or even suspected
Plaintiff was either of the shown individuals.

1. That she informed Defendant, Agent Hitesman, the individual in the cream-
colored sweatshirt was J.B., and that he should focus his investigation on J.B.

m. That Agent Hitesman responded only with an exclamation mark reaction.

Officer Lunger further testified that on July 25%, 2024, she and Defendant, Juvenile
Probation Officer Nathan Hill, performed a home visit at J.B.s residence, and upon entry
].B. was located wearing the same jeans depicted in the surveillance video, and the
sweatshirt from the video was located in his bedroom.

61.  She testified that this information was immediately relayed to Agent

Hitesman, and that he took no further action, and she found Agent Hitesman's

response —or lack thereof —to the aforementioned information to be odd.

11
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62.

Despite the findings during the July 25, 2024, home visit, ].B. was never

detained and the clothing was never seized.

63.

Defendant, Juvenile Probation Officer Nathan Hill, testified during the

August 22, 2024, hearing in relevant part that:

n.

s,

64.

On July 24, 2024, he viewed the surveillance footage from the shooting incident
and had an idea who the individual in the cream-colored sweatshirt was,
suspecting it was ].B., but that he was not entirely sure;

the images were then shown to Officer Delgado who immediately confirmed
the individual as ].B. based upon working with ].B. in the past through
supervision;

based on that identification, he and JPO Lunger went to ].B.”s home on July
25th, 2024, and therein located the clothing depicted in the video footage;

That JPO Lunger immediately informed Agent Hitesman of this information
while they were still at J.B."s residence;

That Defendant, Agent Hitesman, never directed JPO to secure the clothing,
obtain a search warrant for ].B."s home, or take ]J.B. into custody;

That he found Agent Hitesman's response, or lack thereof, to be odd.

Defendant, Officer Hill, further testified that he was present in Court during

the July 26, 2024, probable cause / detention hearing when Agent Salisbury testified

before the Court, and:

t.

That he heard Agent Salisbury identify the individual in the video footage as

Plaintiff, and knew that this information was not true; and

12
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u. That he did not correct this false information with the Court, the District
Attorney, or any other person or agency.

65. At the conclusion of the August 22, 2024, hearing, Judge Gardner
determined that the Commonwealth would be unable to overcome the obvious
misidentification of Plaintiff as the shooting suspect and issued an Order dismissing
the Aggravated Assault charge with prejudice.

66.  Judge Gardner reserved ruling on the other motions to dismiss/suppress
based upon the search warrant, and provided both sides time to submit caselaw and
brief their respective arguments.

67.  First Assistant Wade once again contacted defense counsel and informed
him that he interviewed Williamsport Police Agent Nakita Bonnell about the
circumstances of the investigation, and based upon Agent Bonnell’s responses, a
deposition on record should be scheduled.

68. A deposition of Agent Bonnell was held before the Honorable Judge Ryan
C. Gardner on August 28, 2024.

69.  During that deposition, Agent Bonnell testified that she had been part of
the investigation involving Plaintiff and the July 22, 2024, shooting incident, as well
as other contemporaneous juvenile shooting investigations.

70. Agent Bonnell testified that on or about August 16, 2024, she was made
aware that Juvenile Probation informed Agent Hitesman they had identified a

different individual, namely J.B., as the suspected shooter in the July 22, 2024,

13
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incident, and that a home visit was conducted on July 25, 2024, during which the
clothing from the surveillance footage was located.

71.  Receiving this information, Agent Bonnell stated she contacted Agent
Hitesman asking that he fill her in on what he knew of the investigation.

72.  Agent Bonnell also informed Agent Hitesman that she would be applying
for a search warrant of ].B.'s home, to which Agent Hitesman replied “that’s going to
hurt my case[,]” referring to the prosecution against Plaintiff.

73.  Due to Agent Hitesman's response, Agent Bonnell immediately contacted
Williamsport Police Captain Joshua Bell and First Assistant District Attorney Martin
Wade.

7. The August 19, 2024, search warrant for ].B.’s residence wherein evidence
related to the July 22, 2024, shooting was located resulted therefrom.

75. By Order and Opinion dated September 24, 2024, Judge Ryan Gardner
determined that:

v. it was “indisputable that Hitesman failed to disclose to either the
Commonwealth or defense counsel that he obtained independently
corroborated information that he misidentified [Plaintiff] following his
drafting and execution of the search warrant and prior to both the 72-hour
detention hearing and the first scheduled evidentiary hearing[;]”

w. that a ripple effect of Agent Hitesman's actions is that a “very dark cloud may
be cast not only over the professionalism of other members of the Williamsport

Bureau of Police” and that the sense of justice may be compromised;

14
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x. that another ripple effect is that Agent Hitesman's actions “will likely result in
his credibility forever being called into question][;]”

y. that Agent Hitesman omitted from his search warrant application highly
relevant information within his knowledge that the issuing authority would
wish to know because it would have significantly called into question the
applicatioh’s probable cause.

76.  Judge Gardner granted counsel’s Motion to Suppress evidence.

77, By Order filed on September 25, 2024, the Commonwealth withdrew all

remaining charges against Plaintiff.

V. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

78. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 as through fully set

forth herein at length on each claim for relief.

COUNT I: VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS (42
U.S.C. § 1983) (Fourth Amendment — Unlawful Seizure and Fourteenth Amendment — Due
Process) (Against Defendant Hitesman)

79. Defendants falsely arrested and maliciously prosecuted Plaintiff Mekhi
Johnson without probable cause, violating his rights under the Fourth and

Fourteenth Amendments.

COUNT II: VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Fourteenth Amendment —
Due Process) (Against Defendants Hitesman and Hill)

80. Defendants failed to disclose exculpatory evidence in violation of

Plaintiff Mekhi Johnson’s due process rights under Brady v. Maryland.

15
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COUNT IlII: MUNICIPAL LIABILITY (Monell Claim, 42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Fourth
and Fourteenth Amendments — Unlawful Policies and Failure to Train)
((Against Defendant City of Williamsport and County of Lycoming, pursuant to
Monell v. Department of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978)))

81. Defendants maintained policies or customs that led to Plaintiffs’
constitutional violations, including failure to train officers on proper identification
procedures and handling exculpatory evidence.

COUNT 1V: FALSE IMPRISONMENT (Fourth Amendment — Unlawful

Detention) (Against Defendants Hitesman)

82. Defendants wrongfully detained Plaintiff Mekhi Johnson without legal

justification, causing him harm.

COUNT V: MALICIOUS PROSECUTION (Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments
— Wrongful Legal Proceedings) (Against Defendant Hitesman)

83. Defendant initiated legal proceedings against Plaintiff Mekhi Johnson

without probable cause and with malice.

COUNT VI: UNLAWFUL SEARCH (Fourth Amendment — Illegal Search and
Seizure) (Plaintiff, Amber Garrity v. Hitesman and Hill)

84. Defendants conducted an illegal search of Plaintiff Amber Garrity’s

home without probable cause, violating her Fourth Amendment rights.

COUNT VII: CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE CIVIL RIGHTS (42 U.S.C. § 1983)
(Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments — Coordinated Deprivation of Rights)
(Against All Defendants)

16
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85. Defendants conspired to violate Plaintiffs' constitutional rights by

coordinating and executing unlawful arrests and searches.

COUNT VIII: FAILURE TO INTERVENE (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Fourth and
Fourteenth Amendments — Duty to Prevent Constitutional Violations)
(Against Defendants Hitesman and Hill)

86. Defendants Hitesman and Hill had a duty to intervene to prevent the

unlawful arrest and search but failed to do so, thereby violating Plaintiffs'

constitutional rights.

COUNT IX: INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(Fourteenth Amendment — Substantive Due Process)

(Against Defendants Hitesman, Williamsport Police, Officer Hill, Lycoming
County Juvenile Probation, and Lycoming County)

87. Defendants engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct that caused

Plaintiffs severe emotional distress.

COUNT X: NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(Fourteenth Amendment — Substantive Due Process)
(Against All Defendants)

88. Defendants acted negligently in a manner that foreseeably caused

Plaintiffs emotional distress.

COUNT XI: TRESPASS (Fourth Amendment — Unlawful Entry)
(Against All Defendants)

89. Defendants unlawfully entered Plaintiff Amber Garrity’s property

without consent or legal justification.

17
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request judgment in their favor and against
Defendants for actual damages; punitive damages; attorney’s fees; costs; interest and
any further relief that this Honorable Court deems just and appropriate under the
circumstances.

Respectfully submitted,

CAMPANA, HOFFA & RRONE, P.C.
Robert A. Hof%
Attorney 1.D. N©? 36715
Attorney for Plaintiffs

602 Pine Street, Williamsport, PA 17701
Phone: (570) 326-2401; Fax: (570) 326-3498

By: (,YV\Q%D .>4 AQ(W/“\
atthew A. Diemer
Attorney 1.D. No. 328485
Attorney for Plaintiffs

18
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